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Abstract 

The article investigates new sources, Western European, mainly English diplomatic 

reports – several being so far unknown for Hungarian scholarship, or, if known, not 

examined in this regard – e.g. held at the British Library Manuscript Collection to shed 

light on Hungarian-Ottoman relations at the eve of the fall of the “shield of 

Christendom”, Belgrade in 1521. The article follows the mission of Hieronymus Balbus, 

an Italian at the diplomatic personnel of Jagiellonian Hungary, in 1521 to the Habsburg, 

Tudor and Valois courts. Balbus’s diplomatic workings – through the embassy to the 

Emperor (Charles V in Worms and Brussels), a peace conference at Calais and Cardinal 

Wolsey and Henry VIII, King of England – has not been adequately seen in Hungarian 

historiography, and some of his letters and political activity ranging from Bruges, 

Worms, Calais, London and Cologne has not so far been mapped, yet new insights can 

be given for the understanding of Louis II’s diplomatic efforts during the stress of the 

siege and loss of Belgrade in 1521. The investigation is largely based on Balbus’s 

dispatches – which has not survived in Hungarian archival material but were preserved 

in the reports of English envoys of his activity, to the maker of Tudor policy, Chancellor 

Wolsey. The correspondence of Balbus provides valuable information on the 

administration of Louis II, about its relationship with the Turks and the Emperor. The 

leaders of Hungarian diplomacy did not lack astuteness and “had a clear picture” about 

the international power relations. The government experimented with alternatives, 

provided they did not receive any aid from the Habsburgs: they were willing to go as far 

as making an alliance with not only the English, but even with the Emperor’s enemies, 

the Valois. In 1521, despite the powerful Habsburg dominance, Hungarian foreign 

politics did have some room to manoeuvre. 

Keywords: Humanist diplomacy; Hungarian foreign policy; Hieronymus Balbus / 

Girolamo Balbi; Jagiellonians; Louis II (1516-26), King of Hungary; siege of Belgrade, 

1521; Cardinal Thomas Wolsey, Lord Chancellor of England; Charles V Habsburg, 
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Emperor / King of Germany (1519/30-1556); Henry VIII, King of England (1509-1547); 

Ottomans; Tudors; British Library 

Several Western European archival and manuscript sources are available 

to learn about Hungarian diplomacy in the 1520s, yet they have not really 

been in the focus of research. The present paper investigates the activities 

of a diplomat of King Louis II in 1521 who was also an illustrious 

humanist and wrote significant literary works and political pamphlets. 

 The most important mission of Hieronymus Balbus is the one which 

set out for the West directly after the Turkish attack of 1521. The sources 

concerning the provost’s mission to Germany, the Low Countries, Calais 

and England, most of which survived in England, provide insight into 

Hungary’s foreign policy. Balbus negotiated in various places: at the 

Emperor’s court, in Calais, which was at that time under English control, 

where the French ambassadors were negotiating, and also with Chancellor 

Thomas Wolsey. 

 Girolamo Balbi (Hieronymus Balbus), the provost of Pozsony 

(present-day Bratislava) was an important factor of Hungarian diplomacy 

in the Jagiellon-era.
1
 He was a renowned humanist, a descendant of an 

illustrious patrician family from Venice. He studied at various universities 

in Rome, Padua and Paris. During his university studies he got acquainted 

with John Vitéz junior and this is probably how he got to Hungary. 

Between 1498 and 1504 he was a canon in Veszprém and later he was the 

tutor of King Louis II (1516-26). Presumably in 1508 he became a canon 

in Eger; in 1513 he was appointed canon cantor of Pécs, and later the 

provost of Vác.
2
 In 1514 Miklós Sánkfalvi Zele, the provost of Pozsony, 

exchanged his position with Ferenc Szeremlényi, who was provost of 

Transylvania, which he later exchanged for Balbus’s position as provost 

of Vác and Eger. Later Szeremlényi returned to his position as provost of 

Transylvania and this is how Balbus became the provost of Pozsony from 

1515 until 1522.
3
  

 He showed a strong interest in the history and rulers of Hungary: 

already during his studies at the University of Paris he wrote a work in 

which he praised King Matthias (Carmen de laudibus bellicis regis 

Pannoniae, 1488-90).
4
 His connection with István Werbőczy/Verbőci, 

would-be Palatine is confirmed by the fact that his carmen can be found at 

the end of the first printed edition of his codex, the Tripartitum. In this 

poem, he places the author at the side of the two most eminent Greek 
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lawmakers, Lycurgus and Solon. He believed that after a period of legal 

uncertainty in “ferox Panonia” this work would calm the Scythian morals 

of the followers of Mars.
5
 

 He got into the court of King Vladislaus II of Hungary (1490-1516) 

very early; first he was a royal secretary,
6
 then in 1510 he worked as an 

aulicus, later as a privy councillor.
7
 He carried out several diplomatic 

missions. In 1512, he helped to put across the deal concerning the 

marriage of Barbara Szapolyai/Zápolya.
8
 He also helped to organize the 

royal meeting held in Vienna in 1515; on one occasion he visited 

Maximilian as an ambassador of both Sigismund I Jagiellon, King of 

Poland and Vladislaus in order to prepare the details of the negotiations.
9
 

(The Emperor even sent a message via Balbus). After 1518-19, he 

participated in various missions to Poland, for example in 1518 he was 

present at the marriage between Sigismund and Bona Sforza.
10

  

 Balbus did not maintain a bad relationship with the Habsburgs either. 

His relationship with Emperor Maximilian went back to 1493, when the 

Emperor invited him to teach at the University of Vienna. He was not 

even ashamed to “smuggle” the verses of his earlier carmen in which he 

praised Matthias into his poems about the Habsburg monarch.
11

 After the 

Emperor also came to know his services at the Congress of Vienna in 

1515, he promised him a position in St. Stephen’s Cathedral in Vienna, 

presumably due to the recommendation of György Szatmári, Bishop of 

Pécs.
12

 Although he did not receive this position, he attempted to obtain a 

benefice in Austria again, but at this time with little success. 

 His diplomatic career held forth much more success. In August 1520 

he visited the Emperor to negotiate concerning the marriage of Anne 

Jagiellon with Archprince Ferdinand.
13

 In October he was present at the 

coronation of Charles V in Aachen,
14

 while in November he was among 

those who handed over the bride and was also present at the signing of the 

marriage contract of the Jagiellon Princess.
15

 (This was confirmed by an 

English imperial ambassador as well.
16

) On 11 December he was present 

at the per procuram engagement of Ferdinand and Anne of Jagiellon and 

that of Mary Habsburg, Queen of Hungary and Louis II.
17

 

 Balbus received his first important mission in the spring of 1521 when, 

together with István Werbőczy,
18

 he was sent to the Reichstag at Worms. 

He visited the Emperor at the beginning of the year as well. In September 

1521 the provost of Pozsony reminded Charles V in Antwerp that earlier 

he visited “themperor being at Colayne with he with his college [fellow-

ambassador].”
19

 This can be dated to the beginning of the year, sometime 
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before the Diet of Worms and after his visit to Aachen.
20

 In one of my 

studies I investigated what information Balbus’s embassy provided about 

the mission of the Turkish ambassador sent in 1520-21, or in other words 

about the so-called “proposal of Suleiman”. We presume that he stayed in 

the Empire almost as a permanent ambassador. (According to Köblös he 

did not return home between Aachen and Innsbruck.
21

) A royal instruc-

tion issued on 21 May also confirms this, namely that in the spring of 

1521 they negotiated about the royal marriage in various locations almost 

continuously, since the letter calls upon the ambassadors to continue their 

work in Cologne and Worms concerning the marriage.
22

 

 Balbus visited Cologne on another occasion even earlier: the Tudors’ 

imperial ambassador, Tommaso Spinelli met him even before Charles V 

was crowned in Aachen, on 20 October 1520. Spinelli reported that the 

Hungarian envoys vehemently urged for contracting the marriage.
23

 

(Spinelli was present at the Reichstag from January 1521 until the end of 

April where he met Balbus again
24

). 

 At the meeting in Cologne in early 1521, Balbus reported that a 

Turkish ambassador arrived at the Hungarian court “to declare the dethe 

of the Turk father [Selim I] of this modern [Suleiman I]”. Since “the truce 

betwene them was expired” the new sultan, Suleiman “sent to them […] 

ambassador for to proroge and conferme the olde truce”,
25

 […] to whome, 

regarding the great preiudice that might thereby ensue to the remenant of 

Cristendome, was given no m[uch?] of answere”.
26

 The Turkish 

ambassador was “but enterteyned […] with faire wordes”.
27

 This was 

done “to learn whether the Pope, the Emperor and other Christian princes 

could provide aid”, as Hungary is unable to prevail. 

 On 14 February 1521, after the meeting in Cologne, Balbus was 

ordered to attend the Diet of Worms. He was the permanent imperial 

ambassador of Louis II, since while he arrived on 24 March, the other 

Hungarian envoys entered the council-chamber of the Reichstag in early 

April.
28

 His speech delivered on 3 April survived, and was even 

published.
29

 He emphasizes that Hungary, weakened by 150 years of 

heroic fighting, will not be able to carry on any longer and cannot resist 

without foreign support.
30

 The Turks are arming themselves and attempt 

to attack the country. Due to the quarrels of the princes even losing Rome 

has to be feared.
31

 This tries to appeal to the vanity of the Germans. “The 

true, so to say ancient German strength is long gone. You are not the kind 

of Germans any more either, who reached the level of the Romans in 

terms of military glory, or perhaps even outperformed them.”
32

 “What 
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could be more shameful than serving the Turks?”
33

 In case the Germans 

do not resist now, they will only be able to stop the heathen in their own 

country. The protection of Christendom falls on them. Balbus even wrote 

an epigram to Charles V, encouraging him to save Christendom from the 

sect of Mohamed.
34

 However, this all did not lead to any result: for the 

misfortune of the Hungarian delegates, Luther arrived at Worms exactly 

on the same day when Charles was working on his answer.
35

 Suddenly 

their case became the least of the Emperor’s concerns: in his reply, he did 

not even mention foreign aid, he encouraged the Christian princes in 

general at most. 

 After the Hungarian delegates set off from the Reichstag on 20 April 

1521, Louis II empowered Balbus for another task: he was to “take to the 

end” the negotiations concerning the marriage of Ferdinand and Anne of 

Jagiellon.
36

 In Worms Balbus even negotiated with Ferdinand about the 

marriage.
37

 It is possible that the envoys went even to the court of the 

Archprince. (According to some Venetian source they met with him in 

Flanders.
38

) Eventually, they must have agreed upon contracting the 

marriage because on 17 April Charles V promised Balbus a benefice as a 

“reward”.
39

 The wedding of Ferdinand and Anne took place on 25-26 

May 1521.
40

 Balbus was probably also present at the wedding. 

 The provost arrived home in June, however, a few weeks later the king 

assigned another mission on him. As a preparation for the mission, Louis 

II addressed a letter to Henry VIII in which he depicted the dangers of the 

Turkish advance, gave a detailed description of the Turks’ manoeuvres 

and especially the plans concerning the occupation of Buda.
41

 The 

Sultan’s aim is the annexation of Hungary, seeing that Christendom 

cannot provide help due to the quarrel between the French king and the 

Emperor. The Turks were already busy laying siege to Belgrade when on 

7 August Louis sent another letter from the camp at Tétény, at this time to 

Cardinal Wolsey, Archbishop of York and Lord Chancellor, asking for 

his mediation in making peace between the great European powers, 

praising his ability in peace-making.
42

 He charged Balbus with this 

commission, one of his most trusted, internal supporters, his tutor in 

whom he trusted since his childhood and saw him as a second father, who 

was his loyal and honest adviser in the affairs of state. He asked the 

Cardinal to listen to what Balbus says as if the king himself would speak 

“from his own heart”.
43

 (For that matter, Balbus had been in England 

before and could have had English connections.
44

) 



16  Attila Bárány 

 The king had planned it earlier to employ Balbus to act as his ambas-

sador. A few days earlier, Sigismund recommended the provost to the 

Emperor and talked about his mission as a done deal. What is more, he 

empowered him for another task in his name as well.
45

 In a letter written 

by Balbus to the imperial chancellor, Mercurio Gattinara, Balbus con-

firmed that he represents Sigismund as well, since the “calamity” afflicts 

Poland too, and if it does not get any support, it will also perish.
46

 

 Mary Habsburg also embraced the mission and interceded with Charles 

V on behalf of the provost.
47

 The queen practically regarded Balbus as her 

own envoy, and he even received an empowerment from her to pay a visit 

to her brother the Emperor, saying that he does everything personally for 

her.
48

 She reminded her brother that Hungary is not only the “protecting 

shield of Christendom”, but also the protector of the countries of Charles 

and their brother, Ferdinand.
49

 According to the succession treaty signed 

with the Hungarian Royal Dynasty, it is their “eternal duty” that “their 

dynasty” should provide protection for the kingdom.
50

 He can trust 

Balbus, he provides authentic information, and he is “wise and experi-

enced” and rendered many services to their dynasty, especially in case of 

the royal weddings.
51

 He carries the letter of a “great bishop”,
52

 who is 

presumably Chancellor György Szatmári.
53

 Gattinara also confirms that 

Balbus brings a letter from the queen as well which he will send further to 

Charles.
54

 We also have another letter sent by Balbus to Gattinara, which 

was written before his leave.
55

 According to this, he was also absolutely 

authorized to make agreements and alliances with “other” monarchs in the 

name of the Hungarian king. Provided he could agree with them, he 

would also record the size of the forces the princes would promise to 

raise, how many cavalry and infantrymen they can put on the field.
56

 

 Although the oration Balbus delivered before Charles V on 1 

September 1521 in Antwerp
 
did not survive,

57
 the English ambassadors, 

Richard Wingfield and Tommaso Spinelli passed it on in their reports sent 

to Chancellor Wolsey.
58

 I gave an account of this in a separate study,
59

 

here I only summarize the details of fundamental importance. 

 Balbus must have reached the Low Countries in August. The ambas-

sador, “a Venytian borne and reputed of a singular lernyng”, gave an 

account of the circumstances in Hungary.
60

 He wished “the Emperor 

would make his intention known”, because the country “is unable to 

endure without foreign aid and protection against the Turks”. “[The 

country] does not have money”, “does not have infantrymen, reinforce-

ments and munitions of war”, “they have nothing else but a large number 
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of light cavalry”; “there is not sufficient military service” and “compared 

to the army of their enemies, the country’s military force” “has almost 

dwindled to nothing since the death of King Matthias”. Although 

Belgrade is “a strong castelle and metely well furnyshed that […] hold yet 

and shall resist being succurred and if suche place be lost, […] all the 

realme shalbe lost.”
61

 What is more, “also that betwene Belgrado and 

Buda ben diverse places [castles]”.
62

 The decisive momentum is that they 

will be “able to resist in case be furnished”, by saying this he must have 

had in mind to imply that a quick aid can still be beneficial.  

 The ambassador also uses the trump-card of the Habsburg-Jagiellon 

succession treaty of 1515. He also emphasizes that Charles is obliged to 

give assistance due to “the mutual family ties between them”, “which was 

formed not long ago between his Master, the King and his [the 

Emperor’s] brother, Ferdinand”. He also mentioned that he was instructed 

to make contracts and alliances with the Pope and other princes as well.
63

 

(He was indeed empowered to travel to Rome too.
64

) He was waiting for 

the Emperor’s decision for a long time because he was postponing his 

answer. The ambassador’s patience was coming to an end; this could have 

been the reason why other plans were put in force. It is possible that he 

made the decision to pay a visit to the French king as well already at that 

time. This option came up over and over again until December (see 

below). It could have been in the Hungarian schemes that they would turn 

to the Valois. Balbus also mentions that he was consigned “with other 

matiers” as well which he did not concretize; only mentioned that later 

“he wolde shewe more largely”.
65

 The Emperor could have been afraid 

that the Hungarian ambassador would travel to France, and the Valois 

would embrace the issue of the Cross.
66

 

 The Hungarian government would have been willing to try to make 

capital even by casting the blame on Venice: the ambassador was also 

commissioned to uncover “those that have incyted … the Turkes against 

his maister”.
67

 He obviously had Venice in mind. And if it had been 

necessary, Balbus would have been willing to negotiate even about an 

anti-Venetian alliance 

 Nevertheless, the Emperor answered that he can promise to “do all in 

his power” to convince the estates to “care for the Hungarians in some 

way”, and “provide remedy to their problems”. Nevertheless, he let the 

ambassador know that “he myght not assist the kyng his good brother”. 
68

 

 Balbus was to turn towards England because of the Emperor’s 

reluctance. The ambassador could not have expected much from the 
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Emperor, it was in vain to “hold out a carrot to him” by offering the 

renewal of the succession treaty. When negotiating with the English 

envoys it was mentioned that Balbus was authorized to make an alliance 

with England as well.
69

 He gave an account of this in his oration delivered 

before Pope Clement VII in 1529.
70

 The provost told the English 

commissioners that he would be very happy if “[Wolsey] would intervene 

in his issue without delay”, and would even meet him, “for the urgent 

necessitie he hath to go to Rome”.
71

 To this the English envoys answered 

that he “will meet” with the Chancellor too, as “he will come thitherward” 

(from Calais).
72

  

 However, the news arriving a few days later ruined these plans. On 10 

September Wolsey’s envoys reported that “the Turks have taken 

Belgrade, which towne was the [e]ntre of Hongre of situation and of 

strengist served above all others for the conservation and defence of the 

realme on that side”.
73

 Although it may have seemed that the fall of 

Belgrade could compel the Emperor as well to consider his standpoint, 

Balbus’s determination to go directly to England only strengthened: “he is 

determyned to resorte unto your grace [Wolsey] and to procede towardes 

the Kynge, as shalbe most expedient for his charges, with yor grace best 

counsell”.
74

 Venice’s ambassador to the Emperor, Gasparo Contarini 

wrote to the Signoria already one day earlier that the Hungarian ambas-

sador staying at the Emperor decided to travel to Calais and will turn 

directly to Wolsey.
75

  

 At this point the most important fact for England was that the Empire 

is not in any direct danger yet, Ferdinand can ensure the protection of 

both Hungary and his own territories. The news arriving on 10 September 

also revealed that the Archduke mustered 3,000 infantrymen and would 

pay them to serve for three months.
76

 The fall of Belgrade had not had 

such an effect in high politics, yet which would have forced English 

politics to react quickly. As the allies of the Emperor, the Tudors were 

waging war against King Francis I at this time, and the Chancellor was 

mostly interested in whether the Emperor would engage in the matter and 

provide aid to Hungary instead of going forward with the French war. 

Wolsey was busy organizing a peace conference which was planned to 

take place in Calais in the autumn. 

 During September the English ambassadors met Balbus several times 

who at this point “shoved us to have playne power and charge towarde the 

ffrenche Kyng anf to require and persuade hym for the wele of 

Cristendome truce or peax with themperors consent”. The English envoys 
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ensured the ambassador right away that “by your grace[‘s] [Wolsey’s] 

direccion he wolde knowe what way is best for hym counsailyng hym, to 

folowe yor advise in ene thynge”.
77

 He should not by accident go to the 

Valois now. On 13 September they negotiated again in Brussels, “at the 

quarters of the English”, and reported that the ambassador is “determenyd 

to have” set forth to Calais to Wolsey.
78

 Balbus declared that “he wyll not 

fayle to followe yor graces advis” in every matter.
79

 It was his king’s 

command to follow the Lord Commander’s instruction, whatever he 

does.
80

 

 Due to his illness, however, the Cardinal did not see Louis II’s ambas-

sador. Nevertheless, Balbus wished to be in constant contact with the 

Chancellor, and for this end he asked him to appoint a chaplain, who 

would always be with him, and through him he could directly get 

information, and Wolsey could send word to him “whenever he wishes”. 

However, Wolsey did not react for weeks, therefore Balbus only set out to 

the conference at the end of September.
81

 The Chronicle of Calais does 

even know that “the chauncellor of Hungarye” himself came to the town. 

However, it could be right in the fact that the ambassador eagerly wanted 

to negotiate with all the participants of the conference.
82

 

 The ambassador was also aware that before coming to any decision 

with the Chancellor, he has to visit “the kyngs highnes”, but the English 

ensured him, that “the whyche shall also nothynge determynet in your 

graces [Wolsey’s] absens”.
83

 Therefore it also became clear that he has to 

travel to England. He was prepared for this, since the ambassador has 

“havyng so in charge to doo as shall appere by a lettre of the kynge hys 

maisters owne hand directyd unto the same” (to treat with Henry VIII as 

well).
84

 

 According to the report of the English envoys written on 13 

September, the letters of the Archbishop of Esztergom and that of others 

had by that time arrived to the Hungarian envoy’s hands.
85

 The English 

diplomats usually attached an abstract of such letters (as ex litteris) for 

Wolsey, but now these cannot be found beside the reports. Therefore, we 

do not know what they wrote. The envoys only said in laconic style that 

“all is ther [in Hungary] in grete danger”.
86

 (There is an intelligence from 

1521 which includes extracts from the letters of Louis II’s “ministers” – 

as the catalogue of the British Library put it – for example those of 

György Szatmári. The main subject is the fall of Belgrade as well.
87

) 

 Still in the middle of September and in light of the latest news, Balbus 

tried to find out what the Emperor thinks in this completely changed 
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situation.
88

 However, he could not be admitted to the presence of Charles. 

Eventually, he decided not to wait for the Emperor – Charles was 

preoccupied with the French war at the border of Namur and Hainaut. 

Even the English ambassadors found it strange that Charles did not react 

to the “grievances of Hungary”, since his dominions were in its vicinity as 

well, and got close to the Ottomans. Yet he “maye convenientlye gett 

assistens then any other”.
89

 However, the Turkish invasion did not keep 

the Emperor’s mind occupied.
90

 His letter written to Wolsey on 11 

September did not discuss anything else but the war against the French.
91

 

Although he did order his territories bordering Hungary to provide aid, 

“infantrymen, guns and arms”, but stated that “it would be foolish” to 

“sacrifice and lose” his own forces on this altar.
92

 

 The English also saw that the events which took place on the 

battlefield did not flatter the Emperor with much success, therefore by 

mediating for peace Wolsey could help Charles out and could pull him 

out of the conflict. The Chancellor also came to the conclusion that the 

Turkish victory could shift the parties occupied in the fight towards peace, 

and as the scale which keeps the balance, England could pose as a peace-

building factor. England possessed the required means for this: the Tudors 

regularly received “Turkish” news through the knights of Saint John of 

Rhodes, Venice and Raguza (present-day Dubrovnik).
93

 

 Nevertheless, the fall of Belgrade, although only a week after the news 

had arrived, forced Charles V to take steps. However, all he did was that 

he wrote to Wolsey,
94

 and drew his attention to the Hungarian ambas-

sador, moreover, he asked Henry VIII as well to aid the defence against 

the Ottomans, since they will “soon subdue the rest of” Hungary.
95

 The 

Emperor resented that, having him sidestepped, Wolsey can pose in the 

role of a kind of saviour and can welcome the envoy of Louis II in front 

of the French at Calais, due to which such a peace treaty can be made 

which is more favourable for the Valois. However, he did not want to 

become an obstacle for Christendom. On the other hand, he did not wish 

either that England, under the banner of the cause of Christendom, would 

leave the Habsburgs alone in the fight against the French. Nevertheless, in 

September the Habsburg could not have known how far the Turks would 

push forward towards the Empire, and therefore the Emperor believed 

that with the Ottomans in his back he is even more dependent upon the 

Tudors and was at Wolsey’s disposal in all matters. The Cardinal directed 

the flow of negotiations at Calais at his own pleasure, since the Hungarian 

ambassador, who could provide him first-hand information, was “near at 
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hand”. Therefore, he presented the “Turkish issue” in Calais to his own 

liking. 

 The Lord “Cardinall honorably entertained [Balbus] duryng his abode 

in Calayce”.
96

 Balbus negotiated “honestly” with the Cardinal, who, for 

the time being, declared that Henry VIII can only help, if the princes 

make peace.
97

 The French also learnt about Balbus’s arrival at Calais and 

were aware of the situation and the importance of Belgrade, the fallen 

“key”.
98

 However, Wolsey “did not let Balbus go”. On 29 September and 

on 1 October the Turkish question was discussed according to Wolsey’s 

designs.
99

 He delivered a grand speech in favour of peace, referring to the 

fresh information received from Balbus. The Turks “prepare to devour 

and swallow Christendom”, and Hungary, “the solid and strong palladium 

of Christendom” („ferme et fort bolovart de ladicte chrestienté”) “was 

attacked by them like a starving lion”, and “want to get hold of it all”. 

Concerning the aid, he offers the help of the English king. But if there is 

no cooperation, it is to be feared that the whole country will be lost. For 

this end he will visit the French king as well.
100

 

 Chancellor Gattinara also replied Wolsey.
101

 He pronounced that the 

Emperor would gladly provide aid to Hungary, the key of Christendom, 

“the good and strong castles of which were taken by the Turks”, provided 

he was not tied up and held back by the war. He also referred to the fact 

Balbus emphasized in his speech, namely that the Turks violated the 

existing peace and contract.
102

 Gattinara and the Emperor’s other 

commissioner in Calais, Bernardo de Mesa, Bishop of Badajoz, gave an 

account of the discussion of the Turkish issue.
103

 They confirmed that the 

Hungarian king “asks for the help of the English king”.
104

 However, 

Gattinara had a good opinion of the ambassador who worked very 

enthusiastically. He even asked the Emperor to finally reply him, as he 

had promised back in Worms, and “answer his letters”. According to this, 

Balbus wrote to the Emperor even from Calais, still believing in his 

assistance. Gattinara also praised how much great service Balbus did for 

the Habsburgs, reminding Charles of the marriage of Anne and Ferdinand. 

If for no other reason but at least he [Charles] “should think about the 

queen”, and the services the ambassador had been doing for her.
105

 

 The Emperor only started to learn how great the danger was in late 

September after receiving the reports of his envoy, Andrea dal Burgo: the 

Turks “were victorious and gained strength”.
106

 He could not have known 

yet whether the Turks would get going further towards Buda, or perhaps 

towards the Empire. Even in the middle of October the Venetians reported 
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about great military preparations.
107

 The Sultan, as it was believed at that 

time, was facing the Hungarian forces on the other side of the Sava River. 

England’s ambassador to Rome reported that the Turks were preparing 

against Italy.
108

 Perhaps at that time there could have been a chance for 

Charles V to be willing to make peace. He even declared that “we will 

provide help against the infidel”.
109

 He even tried to convince the Pope to 

contribute to “push back the Turks”.
110

 He declared that he will approve 

of the peace initiated by the Cardinal.
111

 

 Nevertheless, it was in vain for the participants to expect more 

concrete steps from the Emperor, as he was not willing to take any, so 

Wolsey also decided to wait and see. Although he welcomed Balbus, for 

the time being he did not give a “real” answer. The French-Habsburg 

fights went on; there was no progress towards a reconciliation. Even 

Wolsey could only hope to have an armistice.
112

 In this stalemate Balbus 

could not go to England either. What he gathered from England in the 

meantime was only that Henry was very apologetic for the fall of 

Belgrade. On the other hand, he urged Wolsey to return home as he also 

wished to discuss the Turkish matter with him.
113

  

 The Hungarian ambassador still believed that the Emperor would 

indeed take steps in order to make peace. He returned and followed 

Charles for two months between Brussels and Oudenaarde.
114

 On 16 

October Wolsey discussed the Hungarian question again at the 

conference, but waited to learn the standpoint of the French and that of 

the Habsburgs.
115

 The French king only made his stand known in late 

October.
116

 Nevertheless, it could also have been on the agenda that the 

Hungarian ambassador would turn to the French king as well, since the 

Emperor was informed by his envoy in Rome that according to the 

Hungarian envoys to the Holy See, Hungary asked for the assistance of 

France as well.
117

 However, for the time being Francis was sticking to his 

impractical conditions. 

 Only one solution remained at Calais, namely that the opposing parties 

would sign an armistice.
118

 In late October, when fresh news arrived from 

Hungary,
119

 Wolsey made another attempt to move the Emperor and the 

French king towards a peace treaty.
120

 On the other hand, Henry increas-

ingly wanted to call back his Chancellor.
121

 However, Francis remained 

adamant.
122

 It seemed the Emperor had to back down: in October the 

French advanced, crossed the Scheldt and were threatening Tournai. The 

imperial forces were compelled to retreat. Theoretically, the Emperor 

would have been inclined to sign an armistice, but his vanity did not 
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allow him to take concrete steps in this direction. He hoped the fortune of 

war would turn. However, at Valenciennes on 22 October Francis pushed 

his forces back. The French moved forward along the Spanish border as 

well; it seemed there was no hope for an armistice.
123

 Wolsey also 

became fatigued of trying to make peace.
124

  

 Even at this point, Balbus did not give up; he negotiated with the 

Emperor several times, also because he received new information from 

Hungary.
125

 He let Charles know “that at Buda all thastats of the realme 

shallbe shortly assemble for to counsaill” and “themperor woll not … 

promise to make to the kyng […] assistance”, they “shallbe compelled to 

make som truce with the Turks howbeit if thempeor woll consent to them 

a portion of the ayde granted by thastats of almayne, which unto the … 

ambassador saith they wolle aggreable, in that case the kyng of hungria 

shall doo or conclude nothing wythoute themperors consent […] the 

ambassador intendeth to come into Englond.” The diet summoned for the 

middle of November did not discuss the question of the peace treaty; 

instead it made sanguine preparations to continue the war. Balbus resided 

in the Low Countries and persistently hoped to receive the Emperor’s 

“favourable answer”. He declared that he would go to England, only if he 

received an answer from Charles concerning this matter.
126

 On the other 

hand, he mentioned again that it is indeed the Emperor, the obstacle of the 

Crusader campaign, against whom he will make an alliance with the most 

Christian king. Balbus did it very cleverly already in Worms and 

presented that they received a promise from the French king concerning 

the aid.
127

 

 The Emperor was mainly concerned by the French deployment along 

the borders of Castile as they were threatening to break in. The war on the 

border of the Low Countries also became increasingly inconvenient for 

him. Nevertheless, he did not accept the peace offer since in the meantime 

his fortune in the war turned to his advantage. His ally, the Pope took 

Milan on 19 November and the Imperial forces captured Tournai in early 

December.
128

 Yet it was a stalemate again and little hope remained that 

the conference would end successfully.
129

 

 On 21 November the Hungarian issue was discussed again: presuma-

bly Balbus also decided to travel to Calais again. But no solution was 

found at this time either; therefore, he returned from the port and also 

negotiated with the Emperor’s councillors. Now, that it seemed certain 

that there will not be a peace with the French, he was again curious to find 

out the Emperor’s standpoint. According to the Venetian envoy, Balbus 
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was disappointed again because the Emperor did not do more either than 

appointing a committee to discuss the Turkish issue.
130

 According to the 

latest news Charles V received, a large part of Hungary was destroyed by 

the Turks,
131

 but despite this even the committee could not suggest more 

than including Hungary in their agreement with Henry VIII and the Pope. 

This was confirmed by the memorandum issued by the English monarch 

and the Emperor,
132

 and indeed, according to the draft created on 24 

November, they intended to include Hungary as well in the new 

alliance.
133

 Charles stated that Hungary and Poland will also have a place 

in the new league.
134

 “His [Balbus’s] commyng was for ayde as men sayd 

against the Frenche kyng”, which we can also interpret as Hungary was 

willing to enter an anti-French alliance in exchange for an aid.
135

 

 Balbus received nothing more from the Emperor than words. Charles 

was not willing to do more than asking Wolsey to mediate in the case of 

Hungary before the King of England.
136

 This is why the provost went to 

Calais again in late November 1521, and now he put all his hopes in the 

English once and for all and planned to travel to England. The 

Chancellor’s peace proposal failed and on 27 November he sailed back to 

Dover. A few days later the parties finalized the agreement of Calais.
137

 

England signed a contract with the Habsburgs and committed herself to 

send a declaration of war to the Valois until March 1523.
138

 The Cardinal 

could only achieve that the Valois and the Habsburgs agree to continue 

the negotiations in England.
139

 Nevertheless, perhaps Balbus could still 

have put his hope into this when he himself crossed the English Channel 

too. Balbus could have been positive as well because the Chancellor did 

not abandon the idea of inviting the French king to England in December 

to hold a summit.
140

 Although he did not succeed in putting this across, he 

continued his work in the next spring.
141

  

 England could make even more capital of the issue of the anti-Turkish 

alliance. Wolsey could make it seen as if he only could provide help to 

Hungary. This stood him in good stead, because when Leo X died on 1 

December he made it clear that he intended to put forward his candidature 

for the Papacy.
142

 His “message” to the cardinals was the following: only 

he can embrace the issue of the fight against the heathen and can bring 

peace to Europe.
143

 Balbus’s mission was hindered by the fact that the im-

portance of the Turkish issue was dwarfed by the conclave. Nevertheless, 

the ambassador worked on tirelessly. On 6 December before the news of 

the Pope’s death reached England and after Balbus arrived at England, 
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Wolsey already informed Charles V that he wanted to involve Hungary 

and Poland in an anti-French league.
144

 

 We do not know exactly whether the Hungarian ambassador met 

Henry VIII.
145

 He must have followed the Cardinal’s entourage all the 

way to the king, since Henry welcomed Wolsey in Bletchingley right 

away.
146

 An “instrument” of the Cotton Collection, a later “reminder” or 

warrant about a non-existent, probably lost or destroyed document proves 

that Balbus negotiated with the king as well: there was an agreement 

between Henry VIII and the King of Hungary stating that the former 

would provide an aid which was enough to raise a contingent of 3,000 

soldiers.
147

 Unfortunately, we do not know any more. We do not even 

know in which sub-collection the document to which f. 113 refers was – 

in the “B. IX.” sub-collection Nero f. 113 is a completely different 

document from Cologne. 

 It is an entirely different matter that after the news of the Pope’s death 

reached England, the provost was aware of the fact that the conclave 

became the main issue. His letters suggest that he had little chance to treat 

with the leaders of the English government. He wrote grimly that between 

Christmas and Epiphany he has even less chance to negotiate with 

anyone. 

 An interesting source sheds light upon how the diplomat took every 

chance available to reach his goals. He wrote a letter to Wolsey, presuma-

bly in early December, already from England. Henry VIII was receptive 

of an anti-Turkish campaign which entailed Christian glory and immortal 

knightly grandeur. The letter was a smart bait; it reported on the prepara-

tions for a Hungarian counter-attack, probably intended to appeal to the 

king’s vanity. Balbus insisted that the money, if provided now without 

any delay, would not flow into a bottomless sack, since the king is about 

to launch a campaign. They cannot wait any longer, if we do not act now, 

not only Belgrade, but also the heart of Hungary would be lost. 

 In Rome the Pope was informed even before the fall of Belgrade that 

“the king set off to relieve Belgrade and the Turkish sultan was forced to 

retreat 20 miles”.
148

 The English ambassador to the Curia heard in early 

October that Louis “will launch a new campaign soon”.
149

 The Holy 

Father sent 30 thousand golden florins indeed.
150

 On 4 October the 

English ambassador to the Emperor was informed by the Hungarian am-

bassador that “the Turks retreated from Belgrade”, which is acceptable, 

since on 15 October Suleiman did set off to return home,
151

 but the infor-
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mation spread by Balbus stating that “the Turke with hit grete loss is 

withdrawing from Belgrado” is strongly disputable.
152

  

 In the letter in question the ambassador provides the Chancellor with 

fresh news.
153

 The Turks “were forced to retreat by the pestilence which 

broke out in their army and by the cold of the north”, however we “fight 

for our religion” with unbroken “spirit. The king’s army did not fall back 

but followed the traces of the retreating Turks.” They cannot wait to join 

battle with them again. “We are resolved to push forward all the way to 

Constantinople.” But for this end the money of the Christian princes is 

needed.
154

 Such overreaching allocations were not uncommon from 

Balbus at all: in his speech delivered before the Reichstag in 1521 he 

stated that if the Empire provides financial aid, the Christians can move 

forward all the way to Constantinople, and the Germans can get hold of 

the city.
155

 To have a clear picture of the issue, let us give an outline what 

happened in the autumn of 1521 to see whether any detail of Balbus’s 

report is credible. 

 Although the national army which was organized in the late summer of 

1521 could not relieve Belgrade, a possible clash was in the air, since 

Suleiman was in his camp until mid-September, and so was Louis II until 

the end of the month. István Bátori of Ecsed, the Palatine concentrated his 

forces in August at Pétervárad (present-day Petrovaradin).
156

 On 13 Sep-

tember Voivode János Szapolyai/Zápolya, leaving his forces behind at 

Vanna, met the King and Bátori at Báta.
157

 On 18 September he travelled 

on to the army which set up a camp at Mohács to ask for instructions con-

cerning further actions.
158

 It did not appear that the king and the main 

leaders would have left the country to its fate, and before mid-September 

it could not have been clear whether the Sultan was willing to meet in 

battle. The meetings at Báta and Mohács decided to launch a campaign to 

retake their lands at once.
159

 The king called for another armed assembly 

at Újlak (present-day Ilok) on 6 October.
160

 However, an epidemic broke 

out and the king did not wish to take part in the campaign any more.
161

 It 

is possible that news about these preparations had reached the West 

before the epidemic broke out. This is why the foreign ambassadors wrote 

about a Hungarian pursuit. Louis moved to Pécs, the diet was held off. 

The army disbanded and returned home.
162

 Szapolyai and Bátori 

organized the protection of Szerém/Syrmia and Petrovaradin against the 

Turkish units left behind.
163

 The Voivode originally wanted to winter out 

there to prevent the incursions of the bey of Belgrade; perhaps Balbus 

meant his actions when he talked about the beginning of a new 
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campaign.
164

 The fact itself that the country was preparing for a campaign 

was realistic, since the Turks proposed a campaign against Wallachia and 

Transylvania. They could invade the country at any time.
165

 Already at 

the end of the year, Szapolyai ordered his troops to be ready and also 

received money to recruit 1500 mercenaries and to prepare his castles.
166

 

Already in October, Louis II ordered him to assist the pro-Christian forces 

in Wallachia.
167

 The Venetians reported about a new Turkish invasion as 

early as 30 October.
168

 At the end of the year, Louis informed the Polish 

king that he is afraid of an attack against Buda.
169

 In January Burgo 

reported on further Turkish raids.
170

 Although Szapolyai went to war in 

Wallachia,
171

 the royal campaign was not put on the agenda as Louis II 

was preparing to travel to Bohemia.
172

 

 In this regard, Balbus’s letter mentioned above does not provide any 

veritable information. However, we must not saddle every unrealistic 

information on Balbus. The whole Hungarian political leadership worked 

on convincing the Westerners that the king did not give up hope, they 

should just send the aid. This is probably why even the well-informed 

Grand Master of Rhodes reported on 20 September upon a victory 

achieved against the Turks.
173

 

 According to the Bishop of Badajoz, the ambassador of Charles V to 

England, the Archbishop of York ensured Balbus about his support, but 

also made it clear that he can only help him, if Francis I is defeated by 

joint effort, allied with the Habsburgs, or if the Valois are willing to back 

out and make peace. He suggested that Louis should enter into a league 

with England, the Pope and the Emperor against France. The provost 

promised to inform his monarch about this.
174

 Wolsey, being overly 

confident, even sent Balbus to the Bishop of Badajoz to already start 

formulating the articles of the future agreement.
175

 The Bishop rejected 

this, saying he does not have authorization to do so. 

 Badajoz informed Charles about Wolsey’s proposal. The Emperor 

asked him to investigate what kind of alliance the Cardinal is going to 

sign with the Jagiellons, whether it is really his plan to bypass the Habs-

burgs when needed to win the Jagiellons’ support against France, and in 

exchange for this he would offer them help against the Turks. On the 

whole, Charles agreed with Wolsey, and he himself set up a condition that 

he would assist the Hungarians if they did join the anti-French league. 

This way “it would be easier to launch a campaign against the 

heathen”.
176

 On the other hand, the Emperor had a knowledge of 

Wolsey’s own agreement and asked his ambassador to inform him about 
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everything that passes between the Chancellor and the ambassador, and 

asked for the copies of the letters they exchanged and also for the copies 

of Balbus’s other letters.
177

 When Bernardo de Mesa met Balbus he asked 

him whether there is willingness in Hungary or in Poland to enter the 

league. Balbus interpreted Wolsey’s answer as a rejection, since he 

offered an anti-French league in the midst of the fight against the Turks. 

His reaction must also have been that without Louis II’s initial 

authorization he cannot take a stand. Wolsey could not have thought that 

this had any realistic chance; he rather wanted to play for time and learn 

the truth about the military situation in Hungary, whether the Turks are 

really attacking again. When they do so, the Habsburgs cannot act against 

France with such vehemence. For the time being, Wolsey was only 

interested in the Turkish issue to this extent. He was cautious; for the 

present, he did not use the Crusade as a trump card, not even on account 

of the conclave. After all, the Hungarians’ plea for aid did have an effect 

on English politics, even if it was only the fact that now the Turkish issue 

could increasingly be utilized in high politics. Wolsey also realized how 

much the issue of the Cross could help their politics. Henry VIII did also 

declare that he will be the most committed leader of the cause of the 

Cross.
178

  

 Balbus’s last letter related to his stay in England was written already 

on his way home in Dover on 26 December 1521.
179

 He met a courier of 

the Hungarian and Polish king who was taking a message to Henry VIII 

and based on the latest news from home he turned to Wolsey again. 

(Unfortunately, the courier’s letter is not available, although it would be 

interesting to know what Louis II could have written again in December 

to England. He could have given information about their planned attack 

on the Turks in Wallachia. In accordance with this, the Emperor also 

received fresh news from Hungary on 17 December.
180

) Balbus asked the 

Cardinal that he and Henry should turn to Charles and Ferdinand again. 

But he still did not know whether the Chancellor would really take 

steps.
181

 The ambassador was disappointed, he continuously took pains to 

secure foreign aid, now he was in utter despair and did not know what to 

do. The country sank into a forlorn situation, by living off its own 

resources it could not protect itself. The Turks were preparing to attack 

with all their Asian and European forces, but the country is completely 

abandoned. Even in this situation, Balbus sees Wolsey as the saviour, 

asks him to mediate for peace. He praises his unique wisdom, trying to 

have an effect on his vanity.
182

 However, all in all the final message of his 
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letter is that he did not receive an ensuring answer from neither the 

Chancellor, nor Henry VIII and it seems he will not get any. He almost 

entirely abandons all hope that Hungary can be relieved. 

 On 22 January, the Venetian ambassador to Brussels reported that the 

Hungarian ambassador was on his way back: he confirms that Balbus 

could not secure any aid, and although the Empire promised some help, 

half of the forces that had been voted for in Worms, but there had not so 

far been any trace of these.
183

 The English envoys to the Empire gave a 

similar report.
184

 In February the Signoria’s ambassador to London also 

reported that Wolsey did only promise to have Hungary embraced in the 

league.
185

 

 Both the Emperor and Wolsey were worried that the provost will travel 

to Paris as well and Francis I will make the best of the situation and 

embrace Louis II. Even before the Turkish campaign, the Valois monarch 

sent ambassadors to Louis and tried to feel out his stand regarding 

Charles V.
186

 (They approached Sigismund as well; in 1520 a Polish 

envoy went to Paris.
187

) On 19 November 1521 Chancellor Du Prat re-

ported that the Hungarian ambassador’s “letters and figures” concerning 

the Turkish devastation reached him and stated that a friendship with 

Hungary would be very useful, and that he could even provide aid.
188

 

Balbus could get to know the Valois standpoint in Calais. However, as 

long as the conference was held, the idea of travelling to France did not 

arise. The failure of his mission in England created an entirely different 

situation. 

 The provost’s letter written in Dover reveals that he was beset by 

doubts, not knowing whether to find the enemies of his allies. Neverthe-

less, he had to take this chance as well, since his monarch authorized him 

to turn also to the French king for aid. However, for the time being, he did 

not go through with this plan, but only because he learned from the 

Imperial ambassador in the harbour that the French king was not in Paris. 

True to say, he personally did not have high hopes on the negotiations 

with the French king; he believed he was just wasting his time.
189

 

 The fact that the ambassador could go to France still made England 

and the Habsburgs anxious, since Balbus, residing in the Low Countries, 

remained very close for weeks in early 1522. Wolsey was even willing to 

rely on spies to see out the ambassador’s correspondence. The English 

succeeded in getting an insight into his letters, but they did not contain 

anything they thought they would, but rather confirmed the opposite of 

what they feared.
190

 The Tudor spies were following the Hungarian am-
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bassador for a long time; they tried to learn with whom and about what he 

negotiated, to whom he wrote. This is how important Louis II’s ambas-

sador was for England’s powerful Chancellor. 

 It has been suggested in literature that Balbus returned home at the end 

of 1521 and then, fearing the Turks, he left the country.
191

 This originates 

from Knauz who, however, does not support his statement, nor does he 

explain why.
192

 In January and February 1522, Balbus was in the Low 

Countries.
193

 It is possible that he left Hungary during the year, but not at 

all because he was afraid of the Turks. Köblös also states that he left in 

1521, but as “the memoirs of Miklós Oláh testify”, he leased out his 

provostry to Ferenc Szélői Acél.
194

 We have indeed a memoir from Oláh, 

and Knauz could have taken this as the basis for his statement.
195

 Ábel 

also goes back to the same source, he also believed that Balbus left “out 

of fear”.
196

 Not even his present-day biographer knows exactly when and 

for how long he was in Hungary. In 1522 he appears as the Bishop of 

Gurk, which seems to confirm that the Habsburgs made benefit of his 

diplomatic experience.
197

 He obviously reported about his journey to King 

Louis and presumably also to Szatmári, but the next time he appears is on 

23 July 1522: he is serving Ferdinand in Wiener Neustadt by presiding a 

court in Lower Austria. 

 In February 1522, after the report of Balbus arrived, Louis II wrote a 

letter to the King of England. The Imperial ambassador to London 

reported that he “forwarded those letters from Hungary” which were 

entrusted to him by Charles V to Henry VIII.
198

 The Hungarian king must 

have turned to the Emperor again at the same time, because Charles V 

declared that “he promised the King of Hungary that the aid will be 

rendered to help Hungary and the Empire”.
199

 At this time he also tried to 

come to an arrangement with the French, since on 26 February 1522 he 

dispatched a commission to his envoy in England with this content.
200

 

Even if his intention regarding the peace was not tangible, news about the 

Turkish advance, or that Hungary would come to an agreement with the 

Valois behind his back, had some effect on him. Thus, even if the country 

did not profit much from Balbus’s mission, at least it achieved that the 

hostile parties got one step closer to make peace. 

 The correspondence of Hieronymus Balbus provides valuable infor-

mation on the administration of Louis II, about its relationship with the 

Turks and the Emperor. The leaders of Hungarian diplomacy did not lack 

astuteness and “had a clear picture” about the international power 

relations. They also judge well the role of the English Chancellor. The 



A Humanist Diplomat in Early 16
th

 Century Hungary: Hieronymus Balbus 31 

government experienced with alternatives, provided they did not receive 

any aid from the Habsburgs: they were willing to go as far as making an 

alliance with not only the English, but even with the Emperor’s enemies, 

the Valois. In 1521, despite the powerful Habsburg dominance, Hun-

garian foreign politics did have some room to manoeuvre. But in case no 

other foreign aid can be expected from the West, only the Habsburgs will 

remain. The provost, as none of the great powers were willing to provide 

tangible support, was forced to suggest that the succession treaties signed 

with the Habsburgs should be put in force already during the lifetime of 

Louis II, so that they would also participate in the defence. 
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veryfied the contrarye”: BL Cotton MS Galba B. VIII 227r.; L&P III/2. n. 1978.  
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